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Introduction


The twenty-two days from 6 to 27 May 2010 changed British politics, and changed my life.


In just five days, a coalition government was formed for the first time since the Second World War. After years of expectation of a great alliance of the ‘Liberal–Labour centre-left’ and in defiance of the general assumptions of most politicians and political commentators, the coalition that emerged was actually between the Liberal Democrats and the Conservatives.


I was fortunate enough to have a vantage point as these remarkable events unfolded. Indeed, I was one of those at the centre of the discussions and negotiations which led to the formation of this historic coalition. Just over two weeks later, however, my own political career moved rapidly from triumph to disaster, and I will not claim that it has been easy to ‘treat those two impostors just the same’.


In the twenty-two days covered in this book, I went from being a Liberal Democrat parliamentary candidate to being re-elected as the Member of Parliament for Yeovil, with a record majority for that constituency. I then helped to negotiate the coalition agreement, before joining the Cabinet as Chief Secretary to the Treasury – the first Liberal/Liberal Democrat to hold that post and the first Liberal Treasury minister since 1931.


Alongside the Chancellor, I implemented within ten days the government’s commitment to slice £6bn off public spending, and embarked upon some of the early work necessary to deliver an emergency budget statement. Then, after twenty-four turbulent hours, I resigned from the Cabinet and entered the record books once again, but less gloriously, as the shortest-lived holder of a Cabinet Office for 200 years.


A cartoon published in The Times just after my resignation has me reaching the peak of Everest, with my front foot about to rest on its snow-capped peak, on which sits a giant banana skin.


This was a turbulent and traumatic period for me, and those close to me. I regret, of course, the personal hurt experienced, as well as the fact that I am no longer able to contribute to the coalition government I helped bring into being. Waiting eighty years for a Liberal government to come along, and then not being part of it is a pretty frustrating experience.


I offer this memoir as a contribution to the historic record of British politics, rather than as a personal indulgence. I remain a very private person, even after the events and revelations of late May, and in spite of the demands which fall on all those whose life is spent in public office.


My intention in writing this book is not to describe an all too brief Cabinet career.


It is, instead, to inform those who are interested in this important period of British politics, and to make sure that an accurate account is left of what really happened in May 2010, before memories fade, myths grow and evidence is lost.


I also wish to ensure that an accurate and honest account is left of how the Liberal Democrats made difficult decisions after 6 May, before others seek to put their own spin on our motives and judgements. I am pleased to say that the other members of our negotiating team are too busy delivering in government to have time themselves for this task.


I have contributed in the Appendices a detailed written record of the key documentation involved in the coalition negotiations. I have considered carefully whether this breaks any implicit understanding of confidentiality, since some of these documents are being published for the first time. However, their contents have already been openly discussed by key participants in the talks. I do not, therefore, think that the arguments for secrecy are particularly strong. In any case, I hope that students of British politics will find these papers to be of interest.


In this book, I do not pretend to be providing a ‘rounded’ account of the coalition talks, seen from all sides. That work is for others to complete. My account is very much my own, and is written from my perspective and that of my party.


Doubtless this will mean that I have missed some other important aspects of the negotiations, including the significance of direct talks between the party leaders. I have seen transcripts of some of these discussions, but not all were formally recorded in this way. No doubt the weight which I attribute to certain events will also be open to dispute. But that is a hazard common to all historical records.


I have put into quotation marks some of the words used by the key players in this political drama, but only where I have been able to rely on the written transcripts of some of the meetings, or my own notes made at the time, or indeed my clear memory of some parts of our discussions. Where these sources are not available, I have sought to summarise the conversations that took place, rather than seek to artificially reconstruct them.


I have also included an account of my all too brief period in government, in order to give a flavour of how the coalition established itself and began meeting the challenges facing it. Many of the most important early challenges relate closely to the responsibilities of the Treasury, where I was a minister.


I finish with a brief assessment of the coalition to date – why it came about, its strengths and its weaknesses, and the challenges that lie ahead.


I would like to thank all those who helped me to cope with the events surrounding my resignation, including those many thousands of people who are not known personally to me, but who wrote, e-mailed or telephoned their support and encouragement.


I would particularly like to thank my family and friends, my constituency party in Yeovil, including Chairman Cathy Bakewell MBE, my agent Sam Crabb, Jill and Garry Shortland, and Tim Carroll, as well as my brilliant office staff of Sue Weeks, Sarah Frapple, Claire Margetts, Sadye McLean, Tom Powsey and Jeremy Gale. On the 28th and 29th of May I also particularly benefited from the loyal support of Paddy and Jane Ashdown, Jeremy Browne MP, Jonny Oates, Olly Grender, Julian Astle, Sean Kemp and Nick Clegg MP.


Finally, thanks to those who have read all or parts of this book, to check on my recollections and to suggest improvements: Olly Grender, Julian Astle, Paddy Ashdown, Jonny Oates, Tom Powsey, Danny Alexander MP, Andrew Stunell MP and Chris Huhne MP. I am particularly grateful to Alison Suttie, who supported the Lib Dem negotiating team and sat in on almost all of our meetings. Alison lent me copies of her detailed, contemporaneous, notes of these meetings and of some of the discussions between the party leaders. These notes saved me from many an error, and they have added enormously to the detail and reliability of this account.


Above all, I thank James for his patience, love and support.


David Laws MP, October 2010














Thursday 6 May 2010


General election day


My alarm clock went off at 5am. My second alarm went off at 5.05am. Logic would suggest that after a long general election campaign, and with many an hour without rest ahead, I should be sleeping soundly until at least 7am or 8am. But it is the curse of Liberal Democrat MPs that we are not expected to leave the hard work on election day, or any other day, to our activists and supporters.


In my Yeovil constituency, this Lib Dem tradition of ‘leading by example’ had, over time, been bolstered even further by my predecessor as MP, Paddy Ashdown. Paddy used to be the last to leave constituency fund-raising events after personally sweeping the floor of the relevant village hall – a precedent with obvious, undesirable, implications for his successor.


So, after weeks of pavement pounding and media performances, after eight hours a day of knocking on doors for almost two months, I dragged myself out of bed to join our local volunteers for a 6am leaflet drop in the centre of the town of Yeovil.


All political candidates hope that their election day will be sunny or at least that it won’t rain. We dread the thought of trying to drag unwilling voters out to the polling station on a wet evening and always assume that our own party voters will be peculiarly susceptible to the rain, wind or the cold, while the supporters of other parties trudge bravely out to cast their votes.


I had, therefore, prayed for sun, but a glance outside my bedroom window confirmed the worst: a cloudy day with rain threatening. The gloom outside offset my pleasure that, at last, the 2010 general election campaign was almost over.


I sighed, showered, started my car and headed off to Yeovil, dressed in my ‘delivery’ clothes and not my usual suit.


I had first been elected as MP for Yeovil in 2001, but this was my fourth time as a parliamentary candidate, having first lost to Michael Howard in Folkestone and Hythe in 1997.


My majority in the Yeovil constituency had climbed from 3,928 in 2001 to 8,562 in 2005. In early 2010 I had feared that the result in Yeovil might be closer this time. However, Nick Clegg’s strong performance during the election campaign, and the positive reception we were getting on the doorstep, made me dare to hope that my majority might rise into five figures or even exceed the total of over 11,000 achieved by Paddy Ashdown in 1997.


I met up with three members of our hard-working campaign team at the bottom of Westfield Road in Yeovil at 6.10am. Our task was to deliver ‘Good Morning’ leaflets to the residents of Yeovil West, just in case they had somehow managed to miss the fact that this was the day of the general election.


After leaving the others to cover the huge Westfield estate, I drove off to Freedom Avenue and Springfield Road to deliver my 300 leaflets.


I passed the occasional early riser, including those who were amazed, baffled or impressed to see their MP out delivering leaflets at 6.15am.


After I had completed Freedom Avenue, I switched on my mobile phone for the first time since the previous evening.


On my phone was a text message, asking me to call Nick Clegg’s chief of staff, Danny Alexander, who was up in his constituency in Scotland. I noted that the message was timed as having been left sometime on the previous evening, but I was confident that Danny would be up and about, and so phoned him, at around 6.45am.


Danny answered straight away. He wanted to know when I was expecting to be back in London after the election count in Yeovil. The polls were still pointing to a high possibility of a hung parliament and I was one of four MPs who had been asked by Nick Clegg to be part of a negotiating team to deal with such an outcome. We were due to meet early on Friday morning to assess the election results and be ready to advise Nick on his return to Westminster.


The team had been secretly established at the end of 2009. It was done without great fanfare or consultation to avoid the party becoming distracted by post-election game playing, when people needed to focus on getting our policy messages across, and winning as many seats as possible.


Sensibly, Nick did not chair this team himself – he selected the members, told us what he wanted and left us to get on with the work. Nick knew that the party needed to be ready for a hung parliament outcome, but – refreshingly for a Lib Dem leader – he did not spend all his time obsessing about this.


Nick’s focus was always on building the long-term future for our party. It was not obvious, even privately, which of the two other parties he would prefer to do business with. In private, as in public, he was instinctively equidistant between Labour and the Conservatives and he was acutely aware that in most hung parliament scenarios the choice of viable partner would be made by the voters and not by us.


The team which Nick selected to advise him on strategy in a hung parliament, and to do the negotiating itself, consisted of four MPs – Danny Alexander (MP for Inverness, Nairn, Badenoch & Strathspey), Chris Huhne (MP for Eastleigh), Andrew Stunell (MP for Hazel Grove) and me.


Danny Alexander was to chair our team. Danny was only elected in 2005 and he was the youngest of the four of us. He had quickly shown himself to be hard-working, pragmatic, ambitious and effective. He had helped run Nick’s leadership campaign in 2007 and had then become Nick’s trusted chief of staff. Danny’s great skill was to be able to get on with people of very different political views, without losing a hard edge on policy and strategy.


Chris Huhne was our Home Affairs spokesman and the runner-up to Nick in the 2007 Lib Dem leadership election. After he lost to Nick in 2007, and following a fairly rough leadership contest, Chris had won respect for his loyalty and hard work. He had lost, and lost narrowly, but he accepted it. He was still clearly ambitious for himself and for the party. But he knew that this ambition could only now be realised through Nick as leader and so had become part of Nick’s trusted inner team. Chris played ‘Gordon Brown’ to my ‘David Cameron’ in the mock leaders’ debates with Nick Clegg before the general election.


Chris had been a respected economics journalist and had gone on to help run a credit ratings agency in the City. He was elected to the European Parliament but had switched to Westminster in 2005. Chris is strongly pro-European, dry on economic matters and formidably intelligent. And although Chris would more easily relate to centre-left politics than to the Conservative Party, he is an ambitious realist – admirable characteristics in a party where both these qualities are too often in short supply.


Andrew Stunell, the third member of our team, was a former Chief Whip with lots of local government experience. He is an expert on green issues, political reform and campaigning. Andrew was trusted not only by the party in Parliament, but by our councillor and campaigning base beyond Westminster. Andrew was on the team in part to ensure that the wider party’s perspective would be properly represented. I am not sure if Andrew is actually a sandal-wearing Liberal Democrat in his spare time, but he looks as if he could be.


Andrew also brought to the table the pragmatism of someone who is used to Liberal Democrats sharing power with both other parties in local government. No one would ever class Andrew as a ‘right-winger’ politically, but his local government background meant that he was used to fighting both other parties and that he understood the need to strike the best deal when no party had a majority.


Nick also attached to our group his trusted aide and deputy chief of staff, Alison Suttie, who has years of experience of Lib Dem politics and personalities. Alison had worked with both Nick Clegg and Chris Huhne in Brussels, and therefore had a good understanding of the process of negotiation between political parties.


This was our planning team for a hung parliament eventuality and it was also to be our team of negotiators after the general election, in the event a hung parliament materialised. It was a team capable of dealing with either Labour or the Conservatives.


Our team had met on four or five occasions in early 2010, largely in February and March, and had talked through in detail all of the different post-election scenarios.


Our common view was that if any party had an outright majority it was highly unlikely that there would be any ‘deals’ or coalitions, and in such a scenario we firmly expected to be sitting on the opposition benches.


But the polls continued to suggest that the election outcome might be close, with a hung parliament a distinct possibility. Our planning assumption, in line with almost all of the opinion polls, was that the Conservatives were likely to be the largest party, and that a Lib Dem–Conservative arrangement of some sort was the more likely outcome. But given the workings of the British electoral system, we could not rule out the possibility of a Lib Dem–Labour working majority. So we were determined to be prepared for every possible scenario.


Our team was united in the opinion that in any hung parliament the Lib Dems would need to play a constructive and positive role in forming a government. To do otherwise would not only confirm the widespread prejudice that hung parliaments lead to weak governments – a particular risky and unpopular result given the difficult economic decisions that were likely to be necessary – but could also rapidly lead to a second general election.


We all considered that a second general election would be damaging to our vote if we could be blamed for failing to play a constructive role in forming a stable government. We were absolutely determined not to let that happen. ‘Doing nothing’ in a hung parliament would be the worst possible outcome, and one that we would do everything to avoid.


If the Conservatives emerged as the largest party, we fully expected David Cameron to make a bold offer to bring the Lib Dems into a coalition government. The Conservatives seemed to have all to gain, and little to lose, from making such an offer – whether we responded positively or not.


We were conscious that to walk away from such an offer, to be seen to be afraid to take responsibility, could be very dangerous for us and bad for the country – not least given the state of the economy and the financial markets. Britain’s deficit was one of the largest in the developed world, and if the markets concluded that Britain’s government was too weak to tackle this deficit there would be a high price to pay in falling bond prices and rocketing interest rates.


But most of us doubted that the Conservatives would be willing to offer what had long been a key Lib Dem condition for any coalition – a referendum on voting reform.


A few years before, I had spoken privately to George Osborne in his Westminster office and had told him bluntly that the Lib Dems would never go into coalition without the prospect of electoral reform, but neither he nor any senior Conservative had ever seemed keen to pursue this possibility. In fact, there didn’t seem to be any real support within the Conservative Party for voting reform or any movement in this direction.


So despite increased media speculation about the scope for Lib Dem–Conservative co-operation, it was difficult to see how it could work in practice.


As a result of this, Danny, Andrew and I all believed that in a Conservative-dominated hung parliament the most likely outcome was a ‘confidence and supply agreement’ in which, in exchange for a commitment on some of our key policies, the Lib Dems would promise to support the government on economic issues and on confidence votes, while remaining on the opposition benches.


We were not, however, confident that such an arrangement would last long. Taking the tough decisions on the deficit would be unpopular and the risk was that both parties would look to end the agreement at a time of maximum political advantage to them – a dangerous game at a time of national economic emergency.


That was certainly the view of the fourth member of our team, Chris Huhne. Chris argued strongly that a confidence and supply arrangement would be the worst of all worlds, resulting in the Lib Dems taking no credit for the government’s achievements, but all the pain for sustaining it in office.


Chris can be a tiger when he gets an idea into his head, and he continued to push the full coalition option hard, whether we secured voting reform or not.


After weeks of work and debate, the negotiating team was due to report its conclusions to Nick Clegg at a meeting on Wednesday 17 March. Danny Alexander, as chair of our team, had produced a fifteen-page summary of our conclusions.


Many of the conclusions were uncontroversial – including the identification of our four key policy objectives, which were simply those highlighted in our election manifesto and in our election campaign. We were clear that we would need progress on all four policy objectives in order to consider an arrangement with another party.


Danny also set out a strategy for consulting our party on the negotiations and recommended provision be made for a special conference, if needed, no later than nine days after polling day. This appeared to be the requirement of a ‘triple lock’ provision which had been passed by a party conference way back in 1998, when party members feared being bounced by Paddy Ashdown into a coalition with Tony Blair’s Labour government.


So, on 17 March, we met to discuss these issues. As well as Nick Clegg, we were joined by Vince Cable, Chief Whip Paul Burstow and Party President, Ros Scott.


To my surprise, the night before our meeting, Chris Huhne had tabled a ‘Minority Report’ pushing the coalition option very hard indeed.


In his twenty-point, two-page note Chris argued forcefully that a full coalition for at least four years had to be our negotiating objective, whatever the balance of each party’s MPs in a hung parliament.


Chris concluded that arms-length confidence and supply deals lead to a lack of willingness by parties to take tough decisions on the deficit and on public spending. He argued that without a strong coalition arrangement the result would be ‘worse policy outcomes and a higher budget deficit’.


Research Chris had commissioned showed that minority governments rarely deliver big fiscal consolidations, while he claimed that seven of the ten biggest fiscal consolidations in the OECD area since 1970 were carried out in hung parliaments with coalition governments.


Chris went on to claim that ‘half pregnant’ deals ‘are weak and look weak. . . they are more likely to lead to a loss of market confidence . . . and a full-blown economic and political crisis.’


If we were blamed as a party for such a crisis, Chris noted, the political costs would be huge. So good economics would also be good politics, and both in his view pointed to coalition.


I did not disagree with this economic analysis, and nor I think did Nick Clegg, Danny Alexander or Vince Cable. Indeed, Danny had highlighted the risks of economic instability very clearly in his summary of the group’s conclusions. We even proposed to publish an ‘Economic Stability Plan for Britain’ on the day after polling day so that we should be seen to be acting early and responsibly to reassure the markets and tackle the budget deficit.


But the issue for us was what our bottom-line negotiating position should be. And the majority of us believed that voting reform had to be key to any coalition agreement.


Without some credible mechanism to progress voting reform, we thought it would prove difficult to argue for a coalition.


This was, of course, much more likely to be an issue if the Conservatives were the only coalition partner – which always looked the more likely scenario, given the state of the polls.


As well as the possible impasse on voting reform, the majority of the negotiating team thought that it might prove difficult to resolve our other policy differences with the Conservatives in a credible way. And although we expected ‘an immediate, very warm, and very public approach from David Cameron’ (Alexander, ‘Post Election Strategy Recommendations’, 17 March 2010), we were of the view that the private preference of the Conservative leadership might still be to govern as a minority, rather than seeking a full coalition deal.


Our conclusion was that while we would draft both a Lib Dem–Conservative coalition document and a Lib Dem–Conservative confidence and supply document, we felt that the former was much less likely to ever see the light of day.


Nevertheless, I produced a first, full draft of a coalition ‘partnership agreement’ on 21 March, which was based on a similar approach to that used in Scotland in the first Scottish Parliament coalition in 1999. It was entitled: ‘A Partnership for Renewal’, and ran to a length of about sixteen pages. I also produced a much shorter ‘confidence and supply agreement’ (see Appendix 6).


Paul Burstow, our Chief Whip, drafted two ‘operational annexes’ for the ‘coalition’ and ‘confidence and supply’ agreements, setting out in detail how the two parties concerned would co-operate, and dealing with detailed issues such as allocation of ministerial posts, arrangements for Cabinet committees, details of collective responsibility and whipping arrangements, public appointments and so forth.


In the less likely circumstance of a hung parliament in which Labour and the Liberal Democrats had a majority, our team felt that the likely outcome was clearer – a full coalition. This was because Labour had already committed to a referendum on the Alternative Vote. Our challenge would then be to open the door to more fundamental voting reform, going beyond the AV system.


Little would be gained by propping up a Labour minority government with a ‘confidence and supply agreement’, and we never gave this possibility any serious consideration.


We therefore drafted a Lib Dem–Labour coalition document, with a similar set of key policy pledges to that in the Lib Dem–Conservative scenario.


So the conclusions of our 17 March meeting were: firstly, that outright coalition was our favoured endgame; secondly, that this was much more likely if a Lib Dem–Labour arrangement was electorally possible; thirdly, that a confidence and supply agreement was the most likely scenario if we found ourselves dealing with the Conservatives, unless they conceded both on our key pledges and on progress on electoral reform.


We also discussed the major complication that would arise if Labour and the Liberal Democrats were to form a coalition – the future of Gordon Brown. This was not just a ‘post-election’ issue. At the time, it seemed highly likely to be an issue in the election campaign itself.


In the Conservative–Lib Dem battlegrounds a ‘Vote Clegg, get Brown’ message could hardly be more damaging, given the desire for change and the deep-seated hostility to the Prime Minister amongst many voters.


My view was that the Conservatives would repeat this message endlessly during the campaign, and that it could cost us hundreds of thousands of votes and potentially many seats.


So in late 2009, I went to see Nick Clegg and suggested that we might need to rule out supporting a Brown-led government after the election, given how toxic this issue could become.


I even suggested that Nick might make the announcement in one of the three scheduled election-time ‘leader debates’. It would certainly have sent a dramatic signal and, I argued, it would be important in Lib Dem–Conservative marginal seats.


My view was that even if the public accepted a Gordon Brown-led coalition, and I did not believe that they would, he would turn out to be an impossible person to work with in a coalition government. As I argued to Nick: ‘If his own Cabinet cannot work with him, what chance do four or five Lib Dem ministers have?’


I expected Nick to be sympathetic, knowing that he had never found Gordon Brown to be an easy person to work with.


But Nick was strongly against any announcement, delayed or otherwise, that ruled out working with Gordon Brown after the election. He argued that this would simply raise other questions about who else we would work with and what their mandate would be.


I understood these concerns. But in our six or seven practice sessions for the TV leader debates, when I played David Cameron, I endlessly challenged Nick on whether he would prop up a Brown-led government. ‘I agree with Nick on many issues,’ was my line, ‘but he cannot rule out putting Gordon Brown back into Downing Street – vote Clegg on Thursday, and you could wake up on Friday with Gordon Brown.’ Nick developed some good counter-attacks, but I admit to continuing to feel nervous about how effective this line of attack on us could be. To my surprise, it was not a line which the Conservatives exploited as effectively as I feared during the election campaign.


All of this background work – potential scenarios debated and discussed, the documents prepared, and the challenges which we could soon face – were in my mind as I stood in a chilly Freedom Avenue, on the phone to Danny, grasping a pile of leaflets and hoping that it wasn’t about to rain.


‘It seems to be going OK here in Yeovil,’ I reported.


‘My election count should be at around 2.30am and I hope to be away by 3am. I will drive back to London, and expect to be back in Westminster at around 6am. So I can meet anytime after that.’


I had pressed hard for all of us on the negotiating team to meet as early as possible on the Friday morning, riling those who thought that a few hours sleep would help to get a sense of perspective.


What I felt we would need was not a sense of perspective, but a sense of urgency and professionalism. The media demands would be huge and any notion that we were ‘taking our time’ would merely reinforce the journalists’ natural instinct to think that Liberal Democrats aren’t quite serious enough about life.


I imagined what the 24-hour media would make of: ‘The Lib Dem team has gone home to get some sleep.’ It was not a headline I wanted to see.


Before getting back to my leaflet delivery, I took the opportunity to check on the party’s latest prediction of the number of Lib Dem seats.


‘Eighty-five plus’ was Danny’s cheerful forecast, which seemed in line with general expectations following the Lib Dem poll bounce after Nick Clegg’s strong performances in the three televised leader debates.


‘Great,’ I replied to Danny. ‘That would be fantastic. Well, the election could hardly have gone better. Nick must be feeling very satisfied. Well done. I will see you in a few hours time. Good luck in your own election.’


So I signed off feeling confident about our national prospects, and convinced that there was a real possibility of our negotiating team having serious work to do.


The rest of the day went quickly: back home; a call in to Winsham Primary School, near Chard, to observe their own election day event; and then off to the towns of Ilminster, Crewkerne and finally Yeovil to ‘rally the troops’ and get our vote out. To my relief, the rain held off and the voters seemed to be turning out.


I spent the end of the day in the Liberal Democrat heartlands of Yeovil East, as is my tradition, and by around 8.30pm I pulled stumps and drove back to my house near Chard.


There I had a shower, changed clothes and scribbled down a few notes for what I hoped would be an acceptance speech as Yeovil’s MP in just a few hours’ time.


I then set off for the village of South Petherton to have dinner with local party activist and stalwart, Joan Raikes. Joan and her husband Myles, now sadly deceased, had a tradition of laying on dinner for our parliamentary candidates on general election night. We would receive a hearty and healthy meal while watching the early results come in, and listening out for the phone call from our election agent, which would be the first news of how my own count was going.


The news from across Somerset seemed to be good. Everyone was very positive and optimistic. It looked as if we were going to hold our three seats and possibly win a further seat – Wells. This would leave only one Conservative seat in Somerset – hardly the sweep of the West Country which the Conservatives had promised.


I arrived at Joan’s house just in time for the close of poll and for the first exit poll from the BBC. We settled down for a pre-dinner beer, expecting to hear that we were on track for 26% or 27% and for a big increase in our total of seats.


For weeks, the whole Lib Dem election campaign seemed to have been going so well. But the first, unexpected, dark cloud arrived just after 10.00pm when the results of the exit poll were revealed.


The shock was that the BBC was projecting Lib Dem seats of under sixty – net losses of seats against our expectations of big gains.


‘What rubbish,’ I scoffed. ‘All that work,and they have got a totally duff result. How can we possibly end up with fewer seats?’


The results were so at variance with the other polls and expectations that even the BBC seemed dubious of their own figures. Determined to remain upbeat, we tucked in to a large dinner of three courses.


At about 11.30am the telephone rang. I knew it must be Sam Crabb, my election agent, from the count. I looked as disinterested as I could while Joan went out to take the call. This is a nervous moment for all election candidates. No matter how confident you are, or what your own canvas figures show, you are never quite certain until the real votes are counted out.


But Joan reported that the news was good – Sam had told her that his early sampling of the vote count indicated that we were heading for victory in Yeovil – with a majority of over 11,000. I dared to hope once again that we might even exceed the 11,400 majority that Paddy Ashdown had amassed in 1997.














Friday 7 May 2010


First moves in a hung parliament


At around 1.00am, my election agent, Sam Crabb, rang again, and instructed me to come to the count, which he assured me was proceeding faster than expected.


I made the fifteen-minute drive into Yeovil to the Westland Centre. I parked in the packed car park, rang my mother and then James Lundie, to tell them what result I was expecting and to put them out of their misery.


The Westland Centre was packed, as the Yeovil vote count was taking place alongside that of the next-door Somerton and Frome constituency. For months I had dreaded the prospect of this ultra-marginal seat falling to the Conservatives and losing my friend and colleague, the Lib Dem MP for Somerton and Frome, David Heath.


David is a fantastic local MP and one of the most dedicated and professional of parliamentarians. He was first elected in 1997 and only held what on paper looked like a natural Tory seat by virtue of his ability to attract votes from across the political spectrum. In 1997, 2001 and in 2005, David’s majority had never risen to the four-figure level, and in each election the Tories poured in cash and made little secret of their expectation that the seat would ‘go blue’. Each time David had defied these expectations, but the national swing to the Conservatives in 2010 made this seat look a particularly tough one to hold.


But both our counts seemed to be going well, and my result finally came in at around 2.30am – a majority of 13,036, the largest in the one-hundred-year history of the Yeovil constituency.


I was absolutely delighted and made my acceptance speech from the stage of the Westland Centre, thanking our hard-working team that had run one of the best Lib Dem local campaigns in Britain, with more canvassing than in any other constituency in the UK.


About forty-five minutes later, the Somerton and Frome count was completed, and it was clear that – in spite of most expectations to the contrary – David Heath had pulled off his fourth election win since 1997. Indeed, David had increased his majority for the first time to four figures – 1,817.


I stayed to listen to David’s acceptance speech, standing behind his tearful wife and elated party workers. The defeated Conservative candidate, Annuziata Rees-Mogg, then made a gracious acceptance speech, followed by the other candidates, and then the whole thing was over.


We also heard news from the counts in both Taunton Deane and Wells predicting that we would win these two seats. It was a good night for the Lib Dems of Somerset.


I thanked our own Yeovil constituency workers, who were celebrating in the bar, and then announced that it was time for me to get back to London to be ready for the possibility of a hung parliament and the negotiations which would surely follow.


I had promised to give a lift back to London to one of our hard-working constituency interns – Oliver Carter – and we set off at around 3am, while listening to the election results programme on BBC Radio 4.


I left the Westland Centre in Yeovil with the news that in Somerset we were doing much better than could have been expected – taking four of the five seats and increasing our majorities in all our existing seats.


This all seemed consistent with a nationwide ‘Clegg bounce’ from the general election leader debates and I expected to hear reports of similarly good results from across the country.


But the results that I was hearing on the radio seemed anything but good.


Barely were we out of Yeovil, when we heard of the defeat of Lembit Öpik in Montgomeryshire, and this was followed shortly after by losses in other unexpected places – to the Conservatives in Harrogate and in Oxford West & Abingdon, and to Labour in Chesterfield and Rochdale.


I had hoped that these disappointments were just aberrations, but it was soon clear that the gains we were expecting in large numbers against Labour were simply not materialising, even in places such as Liverpool Wavertree and Hampstead & Kilburn, where hopes had been running high.


It was these Labour seats that we needed to gain if we were to increase our overall seats total and it was clear that something had gone badly wrong.


The longer we listened to the radio reports, and the closer we got to London, the clearer it was that we were going to be nowhere near the figures of seventy-five to ninety seats which had been implied by the most recent polls. The BBC’s ‘rogue poll’ was turning out to be remarkably accurate.


There was a silver lining, however: no party appeared to be achieving its objectives. Labour had clearly lost power, but the Conservatives looked like finishing well short of an overall majority.


Increasingly it looked as if what we lacked in seats we would make up for in influence.


It was around 6am when I arrived back in Westminster. I drove to the Palace of Westminster and in through the large gates on Parliament Square.


The policeman on the gate was very friendly and reported that I was the first Member of Parliament back since the election. He congratulated me, but reported that since my parliamentary pass had now expired, I could not gain access to the parliamentary estate.


After a number of phone calls and presentation of the paperwork which I had received from the returning officer in my constituency, it was decided that my pass should be reapproved. I drove around New Palace Yard, through the security check and down into the underground car park, which descends five levels below the ground outside the historic Westminster Hall.


I then made the short, five-minute journey on foot to the Liberal Democrat party headquarters at 4 Cowley Street.


I knew exactly what to expect over the next forty-eight hours, because we had planned all of this in detail just days before.


As well as our weeks of deliberating on strategy before the general election, our negotiating team and other key party officials had all met up on Sunday 2 May in central London, to review the polls and to make preparations for a hung parliament.


The meeting was chaired by Danny Alexander and included Chris Huhne, Andrew Stunell, Chris Fox (chief executive), Jonny Oates (director of communications), Chris Saunders (economics adviser), Alison Suttie (deputy chief of staff to Nick Clegg), Ben Williams (secretary to the Parliamentary Party), and me.


We had discussed the likely election result and how to react, how to handle the other parties, when to start negotiations, how to consult with the party and communications with the media.


We wanted to ensure in particular that our party communications were rather more effective than they were in the hung parliament of 1974, when Edward Heath’s office tried to contact party leader Jeremy Thorpe on election night, only to be told: ‘He’s not available right now. He is leading a candle-light procession through the streets of Barnstable.’ I could not see Nick Clegg leading any candlelit processions through the streets of Sheffield, but we wanted to leave nothing to chance.


At our meeting on 2 May, we had agreed that Nick Clegg would make a short speech about the election result at his own count in Sheffield, and then return to Cowley Street to make a more general statement at around 7.00am. This was based on a 3am result in Sheffield, which turned out to be wildly optimistic.


We also agreed to concentrate our internal party consultations on the Saturday – the first viable day on which we would be able to bring together the whole shadow Cabinet, Parliamentary Party and Federal Executive. If there was a hung parliament, we would need to share our negotiating strategy with party colleagues to ensure unity and have a clear mandate with which to open talks.


We had to think not only about how to cope with our own party members and MPs, but also with the British media. They were not used to coalition-forming and their reporting would frame the public’s view of what was taking place.


Chris Huhne felt it would be important to brief the media on how long coalitions take to put in place in continental Europe (apparently many weeks). Any lowering of expectations might help but I pointed out that neither the British media nor the financial markets nor the public would tolerate a prolonged period of uncertainty.


We also had a discussion about the possible need for a special party conference to ratify any coalition deal, and Chris Fox – the chief executive – set out the arrangements that he was already making to hold such a conference on the Sunday, a week after the election (16 May).


On the substance of the decisions we might face, it was generally agreed that allowing Gordon Brown to stay in power after his and Labour’s poor election performance would be very toxic.


Our views on this issue had hardened over the course of the election, not least because Gordon Brown was regarded as having had a pretty poor election campaign and it was now fairly certain that Labour would suffer big losses on election night.


So in any arrangement with Labour we decided that we would need to press for Brown’s departure. This decision would only be altered by a huge and unlikely surge in Labour’s performance before polling day.


We debated again the likelihood of delivering a full coalition agreement with the Conservatives. Danny, Andrew Stunell and I continued to doubt that we could secure the policy agreement that would make this possible. Most of us still felt that a confidence and supply agreement with the Conservatives was the most likely outcome from a situation where the Conservatives were just short of a majority.


However, Chris Huhne again warned that in his opinion a ‘soft’ arrangement with the Conservatives would be very bad for UK financial markets, as hard economic choices on the deficit were more likely to be ducked.


He remained of his view that we had to aim for a full coalition. Anything else, he felt, would be bad for the economy and could lead to an early second general election, fought before the benefits of taking tough decisions had materialised.


Chris argued that the crisis in Greece, which was in danger of spreading to other European markets, meant that the context had changed materially since our discussions in February and March.


‘The urgency of securing a stable government is much greater,’ he said, ‘as is the need for tough action on the deficit.’


He argued that a minimum agreement with the Tories would need to be for four years, as it would take this long to sort the economy and the deficit out.


Chris also suggested that David Cameron would be more pragmatic over issues such as electoral reform than we imagined.


Danny insisted that we were not going to reopen the detailed discussions which we had had before the election. So while we had clear plans for process, party management and the media, there was still an uncertainty over what the most likely and preferred outcome was should there be a hung parliament where a majority government could only be formed through a Lib Dem–Conservative coalition.


These detailed preparations at least meant that when I arrived at party headquarters in Cowley Street in the early morning of 7 May, I had a very clear idea of what we had to do next.


What I had not anticipated was the sombre atmosphere of the press office on Cowley Street’s ground floor, where staff and volunteers were watching the election results coming through.


Our press and campaigns team had worked incredibly hard for weeks on end and, after Nick’s superb performance in the election debates and our surge in the polls, there were high hopes that we would make a major breakthrough in our number of MPs. Now we faced a huge gap between high expectations and the rather disappointing results.


There was also real sadness at some of the colleagues who had lost their seats – including Willie Rennie in Dunfermline & West Fife, Julia Goldsworthy in Camborne & Redruth, Susan Kramer in Richmond, and others. Increasingly, it looked as if we would struggle to even hold the sixty-three seats that we had entered the election with.


But if we had failed to emerge as the election ‘winners’, it was difficult to see who else had. Labour were still clearly heading for defeat with a massive loss of seats, but the projections still showed the Conservatives falling short of an overall majority. The final election projections had the Conservatives on around 306 seats, Labour on 258 seats, the Liberal Democrats on 57 seats and the smaller parties with around thirty seats combined.


It was therefore pretty clear that we were in hung parliament territory. It looked as if only a Liberal Democrat–Conservative deal could deliver a majority government, and that a Lib–Lab deal would fall short.


The press office kept me busy with a few media interviews on the green outside the Palace of Westminster and in the media centre at 4 Millbank. I stuck firmly to the line that none of the parties had secured an overall mandate and that we now needed to wait for the final results before determining how to act.


It was plain that as the Conservatives were emerging with the largest number of seats and votes, we would be obliged to enter talks with them first, based on the commitment that Nick Clegg had made during the general election campaign.


Nick had been expected to arrive at Cowley Street between seven and eight o’ clock in the morning, but his own constituency count was running very late and his return could not be expected until late morning.


I therefore returned home, washed, shaved, put on a change of clothes and set off back to Cowley Street to be ready to do more media.


On the way down Black Prince Road, I called Lord (Andrew) Adonis, Labour’s Secretary of State for Transport. Andrew and I were old friends, and we had met informally twice before the general election to ensure that lines of communication were open in case a Lib–Lab deal was possible after 6 May.


Andrew had been a Liberal Democrat but had left the party in 1994 to work for Tony Blair. He had been a powerful member of the Downing Street Policy Unit and was widely viewed as exercising more influence over education policy than most Secretaries of State.


Andrew had personally pushed through the Academies programme and was also a driving force behind the government’s plans for higher and variable tuition fees.


All of this had made him rather unpopular both with some Liberal Democrats and on the left of the Labour Party. I do not think he expected to survive for long after Gordon Brown became Prime Minister. But Mr Brown had the good sense to realise that he could not afford to be seen to sack the most competent of Blairites, and later on he also seemed to discover Andrew’s value as a most effective, respected and results-focused minister.


Andrew’s position had now become particularly important for a number of reasons. Firstly, he was not only a former Liberal Democrat, but someone who was as liked and as trusted as people can be when they are in different parties.


Secondly, Andrew had long believed in centre-left realignment, with a partnership between the Liberal Democrats and Labour – as did his political hero, Roy Jenkins.


Finally, although there still remained a few links amongst the more senior members of the two parties, such as Paddy Ashdown and Peter Mandelson, or Menzies Campbell and Gordon Brown, the links with the new Lib Dem generation were not very strong. Andrew, however, was one such link. If anyone was going to deliver a Lib–Lab partnership, it was Andrew.


By contrast, few in Labour’s younger generation seemed committed to links between the two parties. People like Ed Balls were deeply tribal, and made little effort to engage with the Liberal Democrats.


Even Ed Miliband, notionally far less tribal and aggressive than his namesake, notably failed to follow up on his occasional suggestions that we should meet to talk about our ‘common interests’. Indeed, on the only occasion when I did chat with Ed in his ministerial office in the Commons, he merely emphasised to me how ‘toxic’ the Lib Dems presently were in the Labour Party, due to our success in taking council seats off them in their northern heartlands.


As a possible candidate for leadership, it seemed likely to me that Ed Miliband considered any proximity to the Lib Dems as damaging to him personally rather than it being of any value to his party to forge a relationship with us and help keep Labour in power.


Andrew Adonis’s position was therefore important. He was liked by the Lib Dems. He knew people of both the older and younger generations in our party and was committed to better Lib–Lab relations and to voting reform.


Although in the past he would not have been the most obvious conduit to Gordon Brown, it was clear that his relations with Gordon Brown were now much closer, and that they were talking more regularly than might have been expected.


Clearly, Mr Brown must have already been thinking beyond the general election, and he must finally have realised that without a deal with the Lib Dems he had almost no chance at all of staying in power. It was, indeed, a deathbed conversion to the merits of co-operation with the Lib Dems.


Andrew had invited me to meet him in February 2010, for a glass of white wine in his large office in the Department of Transport in Marsham Street. He had then told me that he was sure there would be almost no problem at all agreeing on policy with the Lib Dems in the event of a hung parliament. Our conversation turned instead to the more difficult issues such as voting reform and the Prime Minister’s own political position.


I suggested to Andrew that Labour could include a commitment to AV in their own election manifesto, which might mean a referendum would not be necessary if both parties could secure explicit ratification through their manifestos. This was, of course, rather an outside shot – both with Labour and given our own commitment to the Single Transferable Vote method of proportional representation. It was also a piece of policy freelancing on my part.


But in any case Andrew was clear that Labour could go no further than the offer of a referendum on AV.


‘I am afraid that there are probably around seventy Labour MPs who hate AV and who think it could cost them their seats. We have pushed these people as far as they are willing to go. If we went further, there would be resignations,’ he said.


Andrew also referred directly to media speculation that we might insist on Gordon Brown’s resignation as a price for any coalition. This speculation accurately reflected the debate going on with and around Nick Clegg at this time.


Andrew surprised me by saying: ‘That just will not work. It will be a deal with Gordon, or no deal at all. In any situation where a Lib Dem–Labour coalition is possible, that will be regarded almost as a triumph for Gordon, given where we are in the polls.’


‘And you just cannot come along and dictate to us who our party leader should be. It would not work. Just imagine what our MPs would think of that, or what you would think if we told you who your leader should be.’


‘I can see the difficulty,’ I said. ‘But see things from our perspective – Gordon Brown is incredibly unpopular. And I personally believe that he would be impossible to work with in government. Look how he deals with his own colleagues. I can imagine how he would deal with us. I really don’t think we could accept him as Prime Minister, because I do not think the British people would, and I think he would be an impossible coalition partner.’


But Andrew was insistent: ‘This could be a huge, historic opportunity. Don’t get hung up on this personality issue, or we will lose the opportunity. However, you might want to insist on Alistair Darling remaining as Chancellor,’ he said. ‘That could be rather better for you than the alternative!’


We agreed to meet once more before the election. This was on Thursday 18 March at a restaurant called Loose Box, in Horseferry Road, just down from the Department of Transport.


Over breakfast we chatted about the same issues and agreed to stay in touch. Given the state of the polls neither of us felt that a Lib Dem–Labour coalition was the most likely outcome of the election, but it was not impossible either.


Andrew remained insistent that Gordon Brown would have to remain PM. I did not push the point, and I respected Andrew’s loyalty, but in truth I could not imagine a scenario where we would put this man back in as Prime Minister.


Andrew suggested that we should talk during the election period, but I was insistent that we should wait until the general election was out of the way.


I did not relish our conversations being leaked by someone less decent than Andrew. And the headline ‘Lib Dems in secret talks to prop up Brown’ would be absolutely deadly to us.


Andrew clearly believed that there could and should be a Lib–Lab coalition if the numbers permitted this in a hung parliament. He regarded all of the policy issues as being resolvable and he clearly thought that a deal on AV could be struck.


Now that the election was over and the results were almost all in, I decided that the time was right to make contact with Andrew again. Andrew answered the call almost immediately and it was clear that he had already spent some time weighing up the emerging parliamentary arithmetic.


‘What do you think?’ I said to him.


‘Well, it is clearly a hung parliament,’ he said. ‘We need to look carefully at the numbers.’


I volunteered the view that however close things seemed, the seats in Parliament just did not look as if they could deliver a stable Lib–Lab coalition of any kind.


I pointed out that the support of the minority parties would be necessary in order to secure a majority, and with difficult economic decisions to take this did not seem like a prospect to relish.


I expected Andrew to sell the possibilities of a Lib–Lab deal to me very hard. But Andrew is a realist and does not have the usual politician’s ability to talk palpable nonsense.


‘It won’t be easy,’ he acknowledged, ‘. . . but I don’t think it’s impossible. And Gordon is very much committed to trying to make it work. Let’s stay in touch.’


It was a pretty awful telephone line and as I reached the Embankment the sound of traffic drowned out parts of the conversation. But we agreed to talk later, once the final results were in.


Back at our Cowley Street headquarters, there were more media bids to be fielded and some good news, that of Sarah Teather’s victory, against tough odds, in Brent.


Sarah had faced some difficult boundary changes and had been engaged in a bitter battle with Labour MP Dawn Butler for the best part of two years. The arithmetic said that Sarah should lose, but – to borrow from Peter Mandelson – she is a ‘fighter, not a quitter’ and had been working flat out for months on end with no holidays at all. It was great news that she would be returning to Westminster.


Eventually the news came through that Nick Clegg had arrived back in London, by train, and was expected to reach Cowley Street at around 10.30am.


I bumped into an old friend and the party’s former director of communications, Olly Grender, outside Cowley Street. She asked me whether I had heard that a decision had already been made to rule out talks with Labour and to go straight for a Conservative–Lib Dem agreement of some kind.


I was rather shocked by this, as I felt it was much too early to take any firm decisions other than that we should talk to the Conservatives first.


My predecessor as MP for Yeovil, Paddy Ashdown, was in Cowley Street and had been talking to Nick Clegg on the phone as he came down from Sheffield.


Paddy asked me to come out with him for a quiet word on the balcony at the back of the Cowley Street press office and, while he puffed on a cigarette, reported to me that he and Nick had decided any deal with Labour was very unlikely because of the parliamentary arithmetic. Paddy continued that when Nick returned to Cowley Street he would make a clear statement of his intent to give the Conservatives the first opportunity to form a government.


I was a little unclear whether this was merely the logical extension of the position we had taken during the election, or whether a more fundamental decision had been taken that the Labour option was undeliverable.


My own view was that it was clear we had to start our negotiations with the Conservatives first, as we had promised to do, but I saw no reason to rule out other options until we had at least had a chance to explore them. Nor did it make sense to weaken our bargaining position by indicating there was only one party that we could do business with.


Nick arrived outside Cowley Street at around 10.40am and made his announcement to the waiting press. Behind him were gathered a large number of party staff who were under strict instructions to look happy, upbeat and positive, and who at least managed to look pensive and awake.


Nick made clear that he would hold to the commitment he had made during the election campaign: to talk first to the party with the largest number of seats and votes,which was clearly the Conservative Party. I was surprised to discover later that a few Liberal Democrats had argued after the election that we should open talks with both the Conservatives and Labour simultaneously,but Nick made clear privately that he would stick to the promise that he had made.


Nick then came into Cowley Street, where he was applauded warmly. Staff gathered on the main staircase and Nick, speaking from the first floor outside the general election ‘War Room’, thanked all those who had worked so hard over the previous weeks and months.


Nothing could disguise the disappointment that Nick felt and nor did he try to pretend that the results were as we had been expecting. Had this outcome been predicted a few months before, nobody would have been surprised and some would have regarded this as a success. But expectations were raised hugely by the general election leader debates and by the party’s poll surge, so the final result fell a long way below what we had all hoped for.


Nick had been absolutely brilliant throughout the general election, and his performance merited a much better result.


I had helped Nick prepare for the leader debates before the election and had been with him for the twenty-four hours before the final debate in Birmingham. We had arrived the evening before the debate in a hotel outside the city, and had spent that evening and the next day on preparations.


The pressure on Nick to perform was immense but he was a point of calm in the middle of the storm around him. I realised that in his election performances he had finally delivered everything that those of us who had supported him as leader from the beginning believed he could achieve. And, like us all, the better his performances were, the more his self-confidence blossomed.


As Nick finished his speech to party staff there was again warm applause and he turned left and into the small first-floor conference room, visibly chocking back the tears and emotion. ‘That was the toughest speech of my life,’ he said to me as he entered the room. The gap between yesterday’s hopes and today’s reality was a big one.


Some coffee and biscuits were soon pulled together. Waiting for Nick in the room was the negotiating team: Danny Alexander, Chris Huhne, Andrew Stunell and me, along with Party President Ros Scott, the chair of the general election campaign, John Sharkey, and other key party staff such as Jonny Oates, Chris Fox and Ben Williams.


We exchanged brief pleasantries about the election results in a subdued atmosphere. But although there was a deep sense of disappointment, we also realised that the overall election result had delivered just the outcome for which we had planned in such detail, and that this was such a huge opportunity and responsibility.


And although the moral strength of our bargaining position was weakened by the disappointing total of seats won, the brutal reality was that our support would be necessary for a stable government to be formed. We might not have the seats we wanted, but we had the leverage we needed.


After a couple of minutes of banter, we sat around the conference table and prepared to consider our options.


Danny Alexander started by confirming that he had spoken to David Cameron’s chief of staff, Ed Llewellyn, at 5am, and made clear that we were ruling nothing in and nothing out.


Nick, looking tired, then said: ‘Well, after my statement the ball is now firmly in David Cameron’s court. As we agreed in our election planning, I expect David Cameron to appear painfully reasonable while preparing for a second general election.’


‘By the way, Gordon Brown has already been in contact with Vince Cable, and he is talking about forming an anti-Tory “rainbow coalition”! I am not sure that the numbers really work for that – do they?’


The general view was that a rainbow coalition was unlikely, but not impossible.


I spoke next. I said that if the Conservative strategy was to reach out to us publicly but to hope privately that the talks did not succeed, we would have to be very careful not to be blamed for the failure to create a stable government.


I pointed out that all our pre-election preparations had led to the conclusion that in a hung parliament we had to be seen to be working for an outcome that was right for the country as a whole. If we were seen to be putting ourselves first we would be blamed for instability and we could then be the big losers in any second general election. This was even more the case given the difficult economic environment.


I also emphasised that if we went into any arrangement with the Conservatives, we needed to consider a fixed-term parliament, to build up trust and stability.


Chris Huhne said: ‘Look, it is absolutely vital to strengthen our bargaining position, by making the rainbow coalition a real possibility. If we can do this, we might even persuade David Cameron to accept a referendum on voting reform.


‘However, let’s be realistic,the danger of a rainbow coalition is that it might fall to pieces. Plaid and the SNP, for example, would be a nightmare to deal with, and this would make deficit reduction very difficult indeed. However, we have to make the rainbow coalition a serious option if we are to strengthen our negotiating position.


‘Of course, if we do end up in a rainbow coalition, David Cameron will simply wait for it all to unravel. This is a leader who has a “Napoleonic control” over his party, and who can afford to wait to fight another election,’ finished Chris.


Nick intervened again. ‘I have to say that based on the existing arithmetic in the Commons I am incredibly dubious that a rainbow coalition can deliver.


‘I also think the markets would go nuts,’ he said. ‘It would be really difficult to take tough action to tackle the deficit, and that could mean higher interest rates and the UK being targeted by the markets in the same way as Greece, Portugal and the other high debt countries. I am seriously worried about that prospect. And as for Gordon Brown, I have to tell you that I believe that he would be incapable of leading a coalition government, and that he would be unacceptable to the country.


‘But, let’s be absolutely clear, a minority Conservative administration would lead quickly to a second general election. This would be bad for the economy, bad for the country and would be a big political risk for us.


‘I think it will be tough to negotiate what we want from either the Conservatives or Labour. But failure would condemn us and the country to a second general election.’


Andrew Stunell felt that the election result made an autumn general election difficult to avoid. ‘We just have to accept that this is where we are, and get on and plan for it,’ he said. ‘And let’s be clear – the rainbow coalition option is just not deliverable. It would be impossible to tackle the deficit with all the horse-trading that a rainbow coalition would require.’


We had a brief discussion about the arithmetic of the new House of Commons. Someone attempted to write up on the office whiteboard the latest projection of the number of seats for each party. There was a rather frustrating few minutes while people debated whether the Speaker’s seat was included in the Conservative total, how many seats the Irish had and so on. Nobody seemed to be clear about whether there was a genuine, credible, alternative to a Conservative administration of some kind. And this was a rather important decision to get right.


In front of us we had various policy briefing papers from our superb team of advisers, as well as the ‘Coalition Agreement’ and ‘Confidence and Supply Agreement’ which I had drafted before the general election was called.


We all agreed, in line with Nick’s statement, that we should be ready to open negotiations with the Conservatives and that any communication with Labour should be on an informal basis.


Ed Llewellyn, Cameron’s chief of staff, contacted us at around 12.30pm to acknowledge Nick’s speech and to help arrange the first Lib Dem–Con talks. He also informed us that David Cameron would be making a statement later in the afternoon, and would want to talk privately to Nick.


During our meeting we were also interrupted by a call for Danny Alexander from Lord (Peter) Mandelson. We adjourned the meeting while Danny went next door to take the call.


Peter Mandelson told Danny that he wanted to commend Nick for his statement on the Cowley Street steps, but he urged that parallel discussions should be held with the Labour Party. Danny replied that he had made clear to Peter that we had to keep our promise to talk first with the Conservatives.


Nick agreed with this. ‘Look,’ he said, ‘we must act here with honesty, openness and integrity. I have said that we will negotiate first with the Conservatives, and that is what we must do. That doesn’t mean refusing to even listen to Labour, but we have to act privately in a way that is consistent with what we are saying publicly.


‘Meanwhile, I want to make sure we are prepared for every eventuality. I want a contingency paper prepared immediately for another general election in the autumn – this year!’


The thought of a second general election filled us all with dread, not least on a personal level. That, of course, was not our official party position!


We finished the meeting with agreement that Nick would speak to David Cameron after a planned 2.30pm statement by the Conservative leader. We would then meet again in the evening in Cowley Street to review our strategy. Saturday would, as planned, start with meetings of the Lib Dem shadow Cabinet and the Parliamentary Party. The Federal Executive of the party would also meet in the afternoon. The plan was that this consultation with the party would take place before any serious talks.


My own view was that we needed to get on with negotiations as soon as possible, as the media and the public would expect some sense of urgency. The needs of the country should come before internal consultations.


We were all keenly aware that there would be a huge amount of speculation in the media and in the financial markets about whether or not a stable government could be formed, and about our intentions.


We also knew that there would be pressure for early progress and action, and that we couldn’t afford to sit around talking. Any sense that hung parliaments automatically lead to dithering and indecision would be more damaging to us than to either of the other two parties – unless they and not we could be shown to be clearly to blame. This was unlikely to be the case, given our excessive requirements for party consultation, which at times seemed designed to bind party leaders in unbreakable chains.


We had discussed a timescale for action before the election and I had pressed consistently for us to move as swiftly as possible. While some wanted to consult, get some sleep and not start talking until Sunday or Monday at the earliest, I wanted swift action and early talks.


I had envisaged preliminary talks starting on Friday 7 May, with party consultation on Saturday 8 May (along with further talks), and I had wanted the whole negotiation completed by Tuesday 12 May.


This was, I felt, the very fastest possible timetable for completing the coalition talks, but I also felt that the media and markets were unlikely to tolerate much more delay than this. It was, in a sense, both the fastest and slowest timescale possible. And with the international markets already in a febrile state, a failure to form a stable government could have a real impact on the UK bond market and on UK interest rates, as well as on confidence in the pound.


Nevertheless, I did not relish the prospect of trying to get a decision out of the Liberal Democrat Party in this timescale or anything like it. Liberal Democrats love debate, discussion and consultation, and it was always clear that the whole Parliamentary Party would want to be involved in making a decision, and not merely the shadow Cabinet.


Having been involved in the negotiations to create the first coalition government in the new Scottish Parliament in 1999, as well as the negotiations over the Welsh Assembly government in 2000, I knew just how difficult the process of securing party agreement could be.


I also knew that other members of our negotiating team were definitely on the ‘don’t rush things’ end of the spectrum.


The hugely experienced Andrew Stunell advised against decisions taken without enough sleep, and felt that the serious negotiations should really start after the weekend.


Even the normally businesslike Chris Huhne argued for stately progress and bubbled with international statistics about how long it took to form coalitions in other European countries. Chris is quite brilliant and normally very media conscious, but I could not support his suggested weekend media strategy of intensively briefing the British press on just how many weeks it took to form coalitions on the Continent and elsewhere.


My view was that the Sun or the Daily Mail, or even the BBC, were unlikely to change their views on the speed of coalition building as a consequence of a Lib Dem press officer suggesting they look up Italy or Malta in an international league table to find out how long it took their politicians to cobble together a deal.


The fact is that we are not Germany, Italy or Malta. We are Britain. And the British press and British people are used to seamless and swift transfers of power. I was sure that the speed and smoothness of the transfer would make a very big impact on people’s initial views of the credibility and competence of any coalition or partnership. That was certainly the impression I had gained from our experiences in Scotland in 1999 and Wales in 2000.


I was also of the view that the amount of discussion and negotiation would swiftly expand to fill any amount of time allocated to it. And I felt that more time was no guarantee of a better agreement. It seemed to me that we just had to use the available time effectively.


Fortunately both Nick and Danny had agreed on the necessity for us to act quickly and so plans had been put in place for a swift start to the negotiations, as well as for early internal consultation to reduce the risk of ‘noises off ’, by ensuring that everyone was kept informed and given a chance to express their views.


We confirmed our plans for the following day’s meetings of the shadow Cabinet, Parliamentary Party and Federal Executive. MPs and others were now paged to let them know where and when they would be expected to meet. This was vital for securing party unity and a coherent media message.


Once all of these plans had been put in place, Nick set off back to his house in Putney to see his family and to snatch a few hours of much needed rest.


The ball was now in David Cameron’s court and we waited to see how he would respond.


Before the election we had expected David Cameron to react boldly to a hung parliament, by offering us talks on a full coalition with important concessions on policy. And we needed to be able to respond in kind.


It seemed to us that an offer of this kind fitted the bold nature of Mr Cameron’s political personality, his pledge to reach out to others in politics and the electoral interests of the Conservative Party.


From Mr Cameron’s perspective, a Lib Dem–Conservative coalition could put him into No. 10 as Prime Minister and give him a large enough majority to deliver on the tough choices necessary to sort out the British economy and public finances.
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